A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Troy Belcher, petitioner here and appellant below, asks this Court

to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision terminating review

designated in Part B of this petition pursuant to RAP 13. 3 and RAP 13. 4. 

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Mr. Belcher seeks review of the Court of Appeals decision dated

October 4, 2016 and order published on November 22 2016. The opinion

is attached as Appendix A. 

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Whether continued commitment of a person who has only

committed sexually violent acts as a child and has exhibited no such

behavior as an adult satisfies due process. 

2. Whether the due process requirement of proving future

likelihood to commit a sexually violent offense is satisfied where no

reliable actuarial evidence supports the expert' s opinion of future

reoffending because all of the behavior analyzed by the expert occurred

when the petitioner was a child and where no reliable actuarial instruments

exists to determine whether a juvenile is likely to commit a future sexual

offense where there is no evidence of adult offending. 

3. Whether a diagnosis for an anti -social personality disorder

satisfies the due process requirement that only those who suffer from a



mental abnormality which causes a person to have controlling their

sexually violent behavior may be indefinitely confined. 

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Troy Belcher was 13 and 15 years old when he committed the sex

offenses which predicate his commitment. CP 848. 1 Mr. Belcher' s sexual

misconduct all occurred when he was a child. Id. at 848- 49. The State' s

evidence at trial was that Mr. Belcher has only engaged in a consensual

sexual relations as an adult. 5A RP 898. 

As a child, Mr. Belcher had no relationship with his biological

father. 5A RP 915. His mother who was an alcoholic and physically

abusive to him. Id. He was moved around a lot, causing school instability

and no ability to build relationships with teachers. Id. He supported

himself and his two younger sisters through drug dealing. Id. 

Mr. Belcher has been continuously incarcerated since he was 15. 

CP 849. When he was 23, the State moved to confine him indefinitely

under RCW 71. 09. Mr. Belcher was committed after a jury trial on

February 11, 2011. CP 847. 

Mr. Belcher was granted a new unconditional release trial after the

court found he had presented prima facie evidence that his condition had

Thcrc arc ninc volumcs of transcripts. Counscl will rcfcrcncc thcm by the
volumc numbcr dcsignatcd on the covcr shcct, along with the pagc numbcr rcfcrcnccd. 
E. g., IA RP 1. Rcfcrcnccs to the cicrk' s papers will be by pagc numbcr only. E. g., CP 1. 
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so changed because of treatment that he no longer met the requirements of

RCW 71. 09. CP 847. 

Mr. Belcher waived his right to a jury trial in his second trial. The

State' s expert, Dr. Brian Judd, did not diagnose Mr. Belcher with any type

of paraphilic disorder at Mr. Belcher' s second trial. 213 RP 430. Dr. Judd

ruled out paraphilic disorders was because there was " no current evidence

of rape behavior." 213 RP 431- 32. Instead, Dr. Judd found Mr. Belcher

suffered from an anti -social personality disorder and had a high score on a

test for psychopathy. 2A RP 359. 

Mr. Belcher' s behavior had changed dramatically as he matured, 

the misbehavior declining so significantly that he had not received a

negative behavior management report in the two years prior to trial. 213 RP

526. Mr. Belcher had a history of rules violations when he was younger. 

CP 848. Mr. Belcher had become treatment compliant and there was an

absolute" decline in his behavioral problems. 213 RP 527. According to

both polygraphs and penile plethysmograph tests conduct upon Mr. 

Belcher, he did not present as a person with deviant sexual interests. He

lived in the least restrictive environment on McNeil Island. 3 RP 650. 

2
Psychopathy is not dcfincd in the currcnt cdition of the Amcrican Psychiatric

Association, Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, 5th cd. ( 2013) 
Hcrcaftcr DSM -5). Instcad, it is listcd as a synonym for anti -social personality disordcr. 

Id. at 659. 
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Dr. Judd could not apply any actuarial test to Mr. Belcher' s

likelihood to commit a violent sexual offense, largely because Mr. Belcher

was so young when he committed his offenses that none apply to his

behavior. 2B RP 468. Instead, Dr. Judd applied a Violence Risk Appraisal, 

which does not distinguish between sexual and other violent offenses. 3

RP 675. Dr. Judd found Mr. Belcher' s likelihood to commit some new

offense was high. 2B RP 546. 

The trial court found Mr. Belcher suffered from a mental

abnormality and was likely to commit a sexually violent offense if

released to the community. CP 857. The judge ordered continued

confinement under RCW 71. 09. CP 858. The Court of Appeals affirmed

Mr. Belcher' s continued commitment. App. 1. 

E. ARGUMENT

1. REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED TO ADDRESS

WHETHER DUE PROCESS IS VIOLATED WHEN A

PERSON IS HELD UNDER RCW 71. 09 SOLELY UPON

SEXUAL MISCONDUCT COMMITTED WHEN THE

PETITIONER WAS A CHILD. 

This Court should grant review to address the question of whether

a juvenile who does not commit sexually deviant acts as an adult may be

committed under RCW 71. 09. 030. RAP 13. 4( b) is satisfied because this is

a significant question of substantive due process and involves an issue of

substantial public interest. 
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In the State' s motion to publish, the State acknowledged this case

both determines new or unsettled question [ sic] of law and clarifies an

important legal principle of law insofar as it clearly reject' s Belcher' s

argument that civil commitment cannot be constitutionally be based upon

juvenile adjudications." Respondent' s Motion to Publish at 2. The State

argued the opinion should be published because the issue of whether a

juvenile offender who has not committed offenses as an adult has

repeatedly been raised in sex predator cases and a published case would

provide useful guidance to the lower courts in this area." Respondent' s

Motion to Publish at 2. 

This Court has not yet reached the issues raised here. This Court

has, however, recently held juvenile adjudications can be predicate

offenses for RCW 71. 09.030 commitment. In re Det. of Anderson, 185

Wn.2d 79, 85, 368 P. 3d 162 ( 2016). Unlike Mr. Belcher, Mr. Anderson

exhibited sexually dangerous behavior as an adult and was diagnosed with

pedophilia and sexual sadism. Id. at 91. Before Mr. Anderson' s

commitment under RCW 71. 09, he had trouble controlling his sexual

impulses. Id. at 85. There were at least four times prior to Mr. Anderson' s

commitment where he committed overt sexual act. Id. at 92. Distinct from

Mr. Belcher, these characteristics continued after Mr. Anderson had

matured and had become an adult. Id. at 91. 
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Mr. Belcher presents a stark contrast to Mr. Anderson. Mr. Belcher

was committed because of his history as a juvenile. CP 849 ( Finding of

Fact 7), 855 ( Finding of Fact 22). Mr. Belcher has not exhibited sexually

deviant behavior as an adult. 5A RP 898. He does not suffer from

paraphilia. 2B RP 430. The State' s expert based his opinion Mr. Belcher

qualified for commitment upon Mr. Belcher' s " history of conduct when he

was last at liberty in the community" [ as a juvenile], " his behavior when

he was at least in custody as a juvenile at Green Hill school," " the

persistence of the anti -social personality disorder," and " the level of

psychopathy that he' s historically demonstrated." 2B RP 464 ( emphasis

added). 

And while this Court has addressed whether a juvenile offense may

provide the predicate for commitment under RCW 71. 09.030, it has not

addressed whether it is a violation of substantive due process to hold a

person whose sexual misconduct occurred only when they were a juvenile. 

Unlike Mr. Anderson, all of Mr. Belcher' s sexual offending and sexually

deviant behavior occurred when he was a youth. 5A RP 898. Mr. Belcher

has not engaged in the overt sexual acts Mr. Anderson engaged in as an

adult, nor has a medical expert diagnosed him with a mental abnormality

related to sexual paraphilia. 2B RP 430. His only medically recognized
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diagnosis by the State' s expert is for anti -social personality disorder. 2A

RP 359. 

In rejecting Mr. Belcher' s appeal, the Court of Appeals

distinguished commitment under RCW 71. 09 from the sea change which

has taken place in the United States Supreme Court since the Court began

analyzing juvenile culpability and responsibility. App. at 11. The United

States Supreme Court recognizes " developments in psychology and brain

science continue to show fundamental differences between juvenile and

adult minds," including in " parts of the brain involved in behavior

control." Graham v. Florida, 560 U. S. 48, 130 S. Ct. 2011, 2026, 176 L. 

Ed. 2d 825 ( 2010). "[ I] mmaturity, impetuosity, and failure to appreciate

risks and consequences" are the " hallmark features" of youth. Miller v. 

Alabama, --- U.S. ---, 132 S. Ct. 2455, 2464, 183 L. Ed. 2d 407 ( 2012). 

This Court has acknowledged the same principles. Washington

recognizes the particular vulnerabilities of youth including " impulsivity, 

poor judgment, and susceptibility to outside influence" may be considered

at sentencing for persons who have been convicted of crimes they

committed as young adults. State v. O' Dell, 183 Wn.2d 680, 691, 358 P. 3d

359 ( 2015). Accordingly, youthfulness is a mitigating factor at sentencing, 

sometimes even for persons who were no longer juvenile offenders when

they committed their crimes. See O' Dell, 183 Wn.2d at 693. 
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The conclusions about juvenile offending is especially germane for

juvenile sex offenders. The overwhelming evidence demonstrates juvenile

offenders do not commit sexually violent offenses as adults. Sue

Righthand & Carlann Welch, Juveniles Who Have Sexually Offended: A

Review of the Professional Literature, 30 ( March 2001). 3 The

psychosocial deficits of adolescence, including poor impulse control

gradually resolve upon maturation. United States v. Juvenile Male, 590

F.3d 924, 940 ( 9th Cir. 2010), vacated as moot, 131 S. Ct. 2860, 180

L.Ed.2d 811 ( 2011). Most juveniles who commit sexual offenses as

adolescents cease doing so as adults. Id. It is " the exception rather than the

rule" for an adolescent sex offender to become an adult sex offender. Ian

A. Nisbet, et al., A Prospective Longitudinal Study ofSexual Recidivism

Among Adolescent Offenders 16 Sexual Abuse: A Journal of Research and

Treatment 223, 232 ( 2004). 

These findings are confirmed by the facts of Mr. Belcher' s life. 

Mr. Belcher only engaged in sexually violent behavior as a child. CP 856

Finding of Fact 27). He was 13 and 15 years old when he committed his

sexual offenses. CP 848. The only allegations of other sexual assaults

occurred when he was a child. CP 848- 49. There are no instances of him

s Availablc athttp:// www.ncjrs. gov/ pdffilcsl/ ojjdp/ 184739.pdf. 
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acting in a sexually violent way as an adult. 5A RP 898. To the contrary, 

all of his sexual activity since he became an adult is described by the State

as consensual. Id. 

Again, in its motion to publish, the State acknowledges the conflict

that exists upon this issue and the need for clarity. Respondent' s Motion to

Publish at 2. It is Mr. Belcher' s position that the State violates the 14th

Amendment when it seeks to commit a person whose sexually violent acts

occurred when they were a juvenile, where no further sexually violent acts

occurred after that person has become an adult. Kansas v. Hendricks, 521

U. S. 346, 356- 57, 117 S. Ct. 2072, 138 L. Ed. 2d 501 ( 1997). Substantive

due process requires that indefinite civil commitment be premised upon a

showing of sustained impairment of volitional control. Children are

constitutionally different from adults and lack the ability to exercise

volitional control, even when they commit serious crimes. Miller, 132 S. 

Ct. at 2464. An indefinite commitment based upon conduct which

occurred when a person was a child is therefore insufficient to satisfy

principles of substantive due process. This is a significant question of

substantive due process and involves an issue of substantial public

interest. RAP 13. 4( b) is satisfied and Mr. Belcher requests this Court

accept review of this important issue. 
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2. REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED TO ADDRESS

WHETHER THE DUE PROCESS REQUIREMENT OF

FINDING A FUTURE LIKELIHOOD TO COMMIT A

SEXUALLY VIOLENT OFFENSE IS SATISFIED

WHERE THERE IS NO RELIABLE ACTUARIAL

EVIDENCE SUPPORTING THE EXPERT' S OPINION

AND THE ONLY EVIDENCE USED TO SUPPORT THIS

CONCLUSION OCCURRED WHEN THE PETITIONER

WAS A YOUTH. 

RAP 13. 4( b) allows for review where an issue is a significant

question of law under the state or federal constitution or when the issue is

one of substantial public interest. This Court should accept the question of

whether proof Mr. Belcher is likely to commit a future violent offense is

sufficient to establish future likelihood to commit a sexually violent

offense. As with the question of whether juvenile conduct can provide a

basis for continued confinement, the State acknowledges this is a question

that requires clarity. Respondent' s Motion to Publish at 2. Because the

Court of Appeals analyzed this issue as a question of sufficiency rather

than due process, the opinion is also in conflict with opinions of this Court

and the Supreme Court, including In re Det. ofThorell and Kansas v. 

Hendricks. 

Principles of substantive due process prohibit indefinite civil

commitment except in the narrowest of circumstances. See Hendricks, 521

U. S. at 356- 57. This requirement necessitates proof "sufficient to

distinguish the dangerous sexual offender whose serious mental illness, 
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abnormality, or disorder subjects him [or her] to civil commitment from

the dangerous but typical recidivist convicted in an ordinary criminal

case." In re Det. of 'Thorell, 149 Wn.2d 724, 732, 72 P. 3d 708 ( 2003) 

citing Kansas v. Crane, 534 U.S. 407, 413, 122 S. Ct. 867, 151 L. Ed. 2d

856 ( 2002). The State must establish a person not only has difficulty

controlling behavior, but has " serious difficulty controlling dangerous, 

sexually predatory behavior." Id. at 735. " That distinction is necessary lest

civil commitment' become a ` mechanism for retribution or general

deterrence'— functions properly those of criminal law, not civil

commitment." Crane, 534 U.S. at 412 ( quoting Hendricks, 521 U. S. at 373

Kennedy, J., concurring)). 

The Court of Appeals analyzed this question as a question of

sufficiency. App. at 12. This Court and the United States Supreme Court

have held otherwise, recognizing due process is violated where there the

State is unable to establish lack of volitional control. In re Det. of Young, 

122 Wn.2d 1, 27, 857 P. 2d 989 ( 1993) ( citing Addington v. Texas, 441

U. S. 418, 99 S. Ct. 1804, 60 L.Ed.2d 323 ( 1979)). 

For a juvenile this is an especially important question. Unlike

adults, there are no reliable scientific instruments which can measure the