RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON CLERK'S OFFICE

Feb 02, 2017, 3:09 pm

RECEIVED ELECTRONICALLY

NO. 93900-4

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

In re the Detention of:

TROY BELCHER,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent.

STATE'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

SARAH SAPPINGTON Senior Counsel WSBA No. 14514, OID No. 91094 Attorney General's Office 800 Fifth Avenue, Suite 2000 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 389-2019

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

IV. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

A.

The State Proved Beyond a Reasonable Doubt that Belcher Suffers from a Mental Abnormality

Belcher argues that commitment on the basis of an Antisocial Personality Disorder ("ASPD") with high psychopathy violates due process. Pet. at 20. This argument fails. Due process does not require any particular diagnosis in order to support a finding of mental abnormality or to support commitment.

At trial, the State presented the testimony of Dr. Brian Judd, who conducted a comprehensive evaluation of Belcher, including but not limited to a review of roughly 5,000 pages of information and four interviews with Belcher conducted between 2011 and 2015. Vol 2A RP at 352; Vol 3 RP at 566. Dr. Judd concluded that Belcher suffers from a mental abnormality consisting of a combination of ASPD and high psychopathy. Vol. 2B RP at 464; CP at 852-53; FoF No. 17. He also concluded, based on both static and dynamic factors as measured by various instruments commonly used by experts in his field to assess risk, that Belcher was likely to commit predatory acts of sexual violence if not confined in a secure facility. Vol. 3 RP at 565.

In assigning a diagnosis of ASPD, Dr. Judd relied upon the 5th edition of the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual, or DSM-5. Vol 2A RP at 353. There are seven essential features of an ASPD; Belcher, Dr. Judd noted, currently meets six of those. *Id.* at 359-375; CP at 852; FoF No. 14. Belcher has failed to conform to social norms as demonstrated by his numerous arrests and

convictions, relating not only to sexual misconduct but to thefts, solicitation to commit murder, and intimidating a witness. Vol. 2A RP at 361. Belcher's deceitfulness is, as well, "very prevalent throughout" his records. Id. at 362-63. He has lied about the factual basis of his offenses (Id. at 365), the number of children he has fathered (Id. at 365-66), and his status as a Level 3 offender if released as a result of his trial. Id. at 366. He is frequently impulsive and fails to plan ahead, and his juvenile records note that his lack of impulse control makes his behaviors "very dangerous and unpredictable." Id. at 368-69. He also demonstrates irritability and aggressiveness in his physical aggression toward SCC staff. Id. at 370-71. Belcher has demonstrated consistent irresponsibility and a lack of remorse since adolescence, as evidenced by changing descriptions of his sexual offenses against his two 13-year-old victims. Id. at 373-74. Since the time of his first incarceration, Belcher has denied the impact of his behaviors on his victims, and, indeed, he at times continues to deny that he committed any offenses at all. Id. at 375; CP at 852; FoF No. 14. Such attitudes are relevant from a therapeutic standpoint insofar as full acknowledgement of one's crimes is the foundation of sex offender treatment. Vol. 2A RP at 375.

In Belcher's case, this ASPD is exacerbated by the presence of a high level of psychopathy as measured on the Hare Psychopathy Checklist-Revised, or PCL-R. Vol. 2B RP at 452. Psychopathy, Dr. Judd explained, is "a

construct which refers to individuals that have a pattern of conduct which is demonstrated by impulsivity, potentially aggressiveness." *Id.* at 471-72. The PCL-R is regarded as "the gold standard for identification of psychopathy." *Id.* Psychopaths display a lack of empathy for others and a lack of remorse. *Id.* While some regard psychopathy as an extreme or more severe type of ASPD and others regard it as an independent classification, it is clear that people with psychopathy are, as Dr. Judd explained, "worse, for lack of a better word" than people with antisocial personality disorder. *Id.* at 453. While 50-75% of persons incarcerated suffer from antisocial personality disorder, only 20-30% meet the criteria for psychopathy. *Id.* at 454. Psychopathy, he explained, appears to "kindle" ASPD (*Id.* at 523), and psychopaths have a broader range of criminal conduct, are more violent, and tend to re-offend more quickly than those suffering simply from antisocial personality disorder. *Id.* at 454.

These two conditions—ASPD and psychopathy—combine in Belcher's case to constitute a mental abnormality under the law. Vol. 2B RP at 464, 456-58; RCW 71.09.020(8).¹ Whether acquired or congenital, both psychopathy and antisocial personality disorder affect the individual's "emotional capacity," or ability to appreciate another person's pain. Vol 2B RP at 458. The combination of these conditions "basically limit[s] [Belcher's]

¹ A mental abnormality is defined as "a congenital or acquired condition affecting the emotional or volitional capacity which predisposes the person to the commission of criminal sexual acts in a degree constituting such person a menace to the health and safety of others." RCW 71.09.020(8).

ability to experience empathy, to experience a sense of remorse for his conduct and his behavior, [and] to identify with other people's feelings and emotions." *Id.* at 462. This means that there is a greater probability that Belcher will experience others simply as objects through which he can achieve gratification, uninhibited by empathy. *Id.* at 462-63. This condition affects his volitional capacity, or his ability to inhibit his urges, in that people with this condition "don't have the ability to intervene" in their own assaultive behavior. *Id.* at 458. This in turn predisposes that person to the commission of criminal sexual acts. *See* RCW 71.09.020(17).

Belcher appears to argue that any commitment based entirely or in part on ASPD violates due process because that diagnosis does not distinguish him from "the dangerous but typical recidivist convicted in an ordinary criminal case." Pet. at 16-17 (citing *Kansas v. Crane,* 534 U.S. 407, 413, 122 S.Ct. 867, 151 L.Ed.2d 856 (2002)). This argument has repeatedly been rejected by the appellate courts both in this state and around the nation.² If, as noted by the

² See e.g. Adams v. Bartow, 330 F.3d 957, 961 (7th Cir. 2003) (Foucha v. Louisiana, 504 U.S. 71, 112 S.Ct. 1780, 118 L.Ed.2d 437 (1992), does not preclude civil commitments based on a diagnosis of ASPD); *Hubbart v. Superior Court*, 19 Cal.4th 1138, 969 P.2d 584, 599 (Cal. 1999) (Foucha does not "purport[t] to limit the range of mental impairments that may lead to the "permissible" confinement of dangerous and disturbed individuals."); *In re G.R.H.*, 711 N.W.2d 587, 595 (N.D. 2006) (under both *Kansas v. Hendricks*, 521 U.S. 346, 117 S.Ct. 2072, 138 L.Ed.2d 501 (1997), and *Crane*, sufficient evidence in the record established nexus between G.R.H.'s ASPD and his difficulty controlling his sexually violent behavior); *In re Det. of Sease*, 149 Wn. App. 66, 201 P.3d 1078, 1085 (2009) (affirming civil commitment based on diagnoses of ASPD and at least one other personality disorder); *In re Commitment of Adams*, 588 N.W.2d 336, 341 (Wis.App. 1998); *In re Shafer*, 171 S.W.3d 768, 771 (Mo.App. S.D. 2005); *Murrell v. State*, 215 S.W.3d 96, 108 (Mo. 2007); *In re Det. of Barnes*, 689 N.W.2d 455, 459-60 (Iowa 2004) (concluding that neither *Hendricks* nor *Crane* precluded

federal district court in *Brown v. Watters*, 599 F.3d 602 (7th Cir. 2010), "the condition of [ASPD] is serious enough to cause an inability to control sexually violent behavior, the standards set by the Supreme Court would be satisfied." *Id.* at 615. Belcher asserts, however, that Dr. Judd's diagnosis of ASPD with psychopathy does not constitute a mental abnormality or form the basis for commitment. Pet. at 15-19. The term "mental abnormality," however, as applied to Belcher's particular mental condition and the way that mental condition has expressed itself in criminal behavior, has real meaning and withstands constitutional challenge. What is critical, for purposes of Dr. Judd's expert testimony, is that he "adequately explained and gave meaning to [the term 'mental abnormality'] within a psychological context." *In re Young*, 122 Wn.2d 1, 49-50, 857 P.2d 989 (1993).

Nor does it matter that the mental condition described by Dr. Judd is not a diagnosis within the pages of the DSM-V. More than 22 years ago, this Court, in *Young*, rejected the argument that a diagnosis, in order to be valid, must appear in the DSM. *Id.* at 28. What is critical, this Court wrote, "is that psychiatric and psychological clinicians who testify in good faith as to mental abnormality are able to identify sexual pathologies that are as real and meaningful as other pathologies already listed in the DSM." *Id.*

commitments based on ASPD). If, as noted by the federal district court in *Brown*, "the condition of [ASPD] is serious enough to cause an inability to control sexually violent behavior, the standards set by the Supreme Court would be satisfied." *Brown*, 599 F.3d at 615.

(quoting Alexander D. Brooks, *The Constitutionality and Morality of Civilly Committing Sexually Violent Predators*, 15 U. PUGET SOUND L. REV. 709, 733 (1991-92)).

Belcher also argues that Dr. Judd's diagnosis does not distinguish Belcher from a "typical recidivist in an ordinary criminal case" as required by Kansas v. Hendricks, 521 U.S. 346, 117 S.Ct. 2072, 138 L.Ed.2d 501 (1997). Pet. at 5-7, 16. Neither the United States Supreme Court nor the appellate courts of other jurisdictions, however, share Belcher's fixation on the semantics of particular diagnostic classifications. Psychiatry, the Court has noted, "is not... an exact science, and psychiatrists disagree widely and frequently on what constitutes mental illness, on the appropriate diagnosis to be attached to given behavior and symptoms, on cure and treatment, and on likelihood of future dangerousness." Ake v. Oklahoma, 470 U.S. 68, 105 S.Ct. 1087, 84 L.Ed.2d 53 (1985). While no particular psychiatric diagnosis is required, commitment under the SVP law requires "proof of serious difficulty in controlling behavior," sufficient, "when viewed in light of such features of the case as the nature of the psychiatric diagnosis, and the severity of the mental abnormality itself," "to distinguish the dangerous sexual offender whose serious mental illness, abnormality, or disorder subjects him to civil commitment from the dangerous but typical recidivist convicted in an ordinary criminal case." Crane, 534 U.S. at 413.

Sufficient proof was presented here. Dr. Judd explained the basis for his diagnosis at length, discussing the factual basis for both his opinion that the combination of Belcher's ASPD and high level of psychopathy constituted a mental abnormality under the law. Vol. 2B RP at 464. Dr. Judd explained both what he understood by the term "mental abnormality" (Id. at 456-58) and why that term applied to Belcher: He suffers from a "congenital or acquired condition" in the form of this combination of an ASPD with high psychopathy. Id. This condition "affects his emotional or volitional capacity" by "basically limit[ing] [Belcher's] ability to experience empathy, to experience a sense of remorse for his conduct and his behavior, [and] to identify with other people's feelings and emotions." Id. at 462. Finally, this mental condition predisposes Belcher "to the commission of criminal sexual acts in a degree constituting ... a menace to the health and safety of others" and causes Belcher to have serious difficulty controlling his sexually violent behavior. Id. at 462-64. This testimony gave meaning to the term mental abnormality "within a psychological context" as required by Young, and provided the trial court a basis to conclude, as required by Crane, that Belcher had "serious difficulty" controlling his sexually violent behavior.

Belcher also argues that commitment is improper because it is based on behaviors long ago, and that he no longer evidences the antisocial behavior so prominent in his youth. Pet. at 4-9. Dr. Judd explained,

however, that Belcher's antisocial tendencies have persisted over a sustained period of time, emerging first in late childhood and adolescence, and continuing until the last few years before this trial. Vol. 2B RP at 424. While the manifestation of the disorder "can be less prominent in a structured environment" (*Id.*), ASPD "tends to be seen" as a chronic condition, for which there is "no real cure[.]" Vol. 2A at 380. Because Belcher had a sufficient number of relevant symptoms "both as an adolescent and as an adult," the diagnosis was warranted. *Id.* at 361. The mere fact of aging is insufficient to reduce Belcher's risk of re-offense.

The trial court also heard extensive testimony from Belcher's expert, Dr. Brian Abbott, regarding Belcher's mental condition.³ 5A RP at 847-1047; 5B RP at 1048-1123. Much of this testimony related to Belcher's argument that his youthful behavior was not predictive of his behavior as an adult, and included testimony related to his diagnosis, the development of the pre-frontal cortex, the decreasing rates of recidivism for adolescents as they enter their adult years, and the difficulty in assessing risk for persons who committed sexual offenses as adolescents. Vol. 5A RP at 993-1027. The court thus had an opportunity to consider the possibility that, although Belcher had indeed been a juvenile at the time of his

³ Dr. Abbott did not conduct a risk assessment of Belcher. CP at 856; FoF No. 26.

to be "likely" to reoffend. The trial court, however, rejected Dr. Abbott's "narrow view of the facts and circumstances surrounding Mr. Belcher's relevant psychological issues" as biased and lacking in credibility, noting that Dr. Abbott's opinions "have been inconsistent over a very short period of time" and "seem to change depending on Mr. Belcher's legal position, rather than psychological or other forensic issues." CP at 855-56; FoF Nos. 24-25. Belcher does not assign error to these findings. The trial court correctly concluded that Belcher suffered from a mental abnormality.

B. The State Proved Beyond a Reasonable Doubt That Belcher Is Likely To Reoffend

Belcher argues that the State presented no reliable actuarial evidence supporting the State's expert's opinion that Belcher will reoffend, and that Belcher's youth at the time of his offenses means that the State could not prove a lack of volitional control. Pet at 10. First, this argument assumes that a risk assessment consists only of the application of an actuarial instrument. This is wrong, in that a comprehensive risk assessment such as the one conducted by Dr. Judd considers many factors, including but not limited to static factors as measured by certain actuarial instruments, dynamic factors, relevant psychological factors, and, of course, the evaluator's own clinical judgment. Moreover, Belcher's argument conflates the State's ultimate burden—that is, to demonstrate beyond a reasonable doubt that Belcher is more likely than not to reoffend—with the use of or score on a particular

actuarial instrument. Dr. Judd's risk assessment was not limited to the scoring of a single actuarial instrument any more than the score on that instrument is dispositive of his risk to reoffend.

Belcher also argues that, given the limitations of the instruments Dr. Judd used, the State was able to demonstrate only that Belcher was likely to commit violent acts if released, not acts of sexual violence, as required by the statute. Pet. at 13. The record does not support this claim. In conducting his comprehensive assessment, Dr. Judd testified that he relied upon the PCL-R as a "foundation" from which to begin his risk assessment Vol. 2B RP at 466. In order to score this instrument, the evaluator looks at the subject's lifetime functioning, including juvenile behavior if such records are available. Vol. 2B at 472. Belcher's "grandiose sense of self," his need for stimulation, his pathological lying, and his use of deception to cheat, bilk, defraud, or manipulate others are all characteristic of psychopaths. Id. at 471-84. Belcher demonstrates a lack of guilt or remorse for his crimes, minimizes the use of force involved in his sexual crimes or, in some cases, denies those offenses altogether. Id. at 484-89. This, combined with his refusal to engage in treatment classes, "makes offense-specific treatment virtually impossible." Id. at 516. Belcher also demonstrates behaviors and attitudes that are callous, displaying no empathy for his victims, often claiming that he did nothing wrong and blaming them for his current dilemma. Id. at 494. He shows poor

behavioral controls, tending "to respond to frustration, failure, discipline, and criticism with violent behavior or with threats and verbal abuse," and striking out in anger or rage when frustrated. *Id.* at 497. He has demonstrated promiscuous sexual behavior, having had many victims and sexual partners, and having, even when married, engaged and sought to engage in sexual contact with others while at the SCC. *Id.* at 498-500. Belcher, who had early behavior problems such as fights and suspensions from school (*Id.* at 508) is, as well, "extremely impulsive in his lack of self-control and judgment," a factor that adds "significantly" to his dangerousness. *Id.* at 511.

Belcher scored a 31 on the PCL-R; a score of 30 is generally regarded as a cutoff for the presence of psychopathy. Vol. 2B RP at 472, 476. Persons who suffer from ASPD as well as meeting the conventional criteria for psychopathy are "at disproportionally higher risk" to reoffend as compared to both persons with ASPD or with neither psychopathy nor an ASPD. *Id.* at 524-25; Vol. 3 RP at 557.

After considering the impact of Belcher's psychopathy on his risk to reoffend, Dr. Judd then used two actuarial instruments, in this case, the Violence Risk Appraisal Guide-Revised, or VRAG-R, and the SORAG, or Sex Offender Risk Appraisal Guide, as part of his overall risk assessment.⁴

⁴ On appeal from his initial commitment trial, Belcher argued unsuccessfully that the SORAG, which Dr. Judd had used, "is an improper or inaccurate tool to use on those who committed sex crimes as juveniles." *Belcher*, 2013 WL 634536, at *7.

Vol. 2B RP at 466. The use of actuarial instruments as part of a comprehensive risk assessment is well-accepted. In re Det. of Thorell, 149 Wn.2d 724, 755, 72 P.3d 708 (2003). Such instruments are not, however, dispositive of the ultimate issue of risk. Because actuarial measurements only evaluate a "limited set of predictors" often involving statistical analysis of small sample sizes, the results "have a variety of potential predictive shortcomings" (Id. at 753), and may underestimate the risk of re-offense. See, e.g., In re Det. of Kelley, 133 Wn. App. 289, 296, 135 P.3d 554 (2006); see also In re Det. of Lewis, 134 Wn. App. 896, 906, 143 P.3d 833 (2006). For these reasons, experts "conside[r] potentially important factors not included in the actuarial measure." *Thorell*, 149 Wn.2d at 753. This consideration can include various other dynamic risk factors-that is, risk factors that are susceptible to change-- that identify the offender as a high risk to reoffend. Lewis, 134 Wn. App. at 906.

The VRAG was initially published in 1993, and, along with the SORAG, is the "oldest risk assessment instrument[t] that we have." Vol. 2B RP at 536. Explaining that certain otherwise-well-accepted actuarial instruments, such as the Static-99, are not appropriate for use on persons who committed their crimes below a certain age, Dr. Judd testified that the VRAG-R is in fact appropriate for use with such populations. *Id.* at 468; Vol. 3 RP at 660-61. Although the VRAG-R is designed to assess the risk of

all violent recidivism, including sexual recidivism, it is regarded as a useful tool for purposes of assessing the risk of sexual violence as well. As Dr. Judd explained, "it provides at least a structured ... assessment technique for assessing an individual's risk for recidivism[,] and provides information as to whether the person will be recharged for a violent, including a sexually violent, offense." Vol. 2B RP at 533-34. Because a sexually-motivated offense may be pled down to a non-sexual offense, looking at instruments that measure recidivism in terms of violence, including sexual violence, such as the VRAG, "was probably a more appropriate way to assess the probability of an individual's future sexual recidivism" rather than simply looking at a measure that focused on "rap sheet sexual recidivism." *Id.* at 535-36.

Belcher's score on the VRAG-R places him in the highest "bin," or category, on the VRAG-R, between the 95th and 96th percentile compared to the standardization sample. Vol. 2B RP at 546. After 12 years of follow up, 87 percent of those with this score were charged with a violent--including sexually violent-- offense. Belcher's score on the SORAG was similar: Of those with the same score as that assigned Belcher, 93% were re-charged for violent offenses within 10 years. Vol. 3 RP at 562. Even with a score as high as this, however, this result was simply another "piece of the puzzle." *Id.* at 546. Research demonstrates that non-compliance with supervision has perhaps the strongest relationship with sexual recidivism.

exceeding even deviant sexual interest and other risk factors known to be empirically related to recidivism. *Id.* at 553. Belcher, Dr. Judd noted, had had roughly 85-90 infractions at the SCC since his arrival in 2007 (Vol. 2A RP at 369), more than 50 of which have been since his commitment in 2011.

After considering all of this information, Dr. Judd concluded that Belcher suffered from a mental abnormality that made him more likely than not to commit predatory acts of sexual violence if not confined. Vol. 2B RP at 456-62. This determination was well supported by the evidence, and comported with due process.

C. Belcher's Commitment Comports with Due Process

The constitutionality of Washington's statute has been repeatedly upheld against various due process challenges. *Young*, 122 Wn.2d 1; *Thorell*, 149 Wn.2d 724; *State v. McCuistion*, 174 Wn.2d 369, 275 P.3d 1092 (2012). Substantive due process requires that those civilly committed under the sexually violent predator law be both mentally ill and dangerous. *Hendricks*, 521 U.S. at 358. Commitment must be supported by proof that the person has serious difficulty controlling his or her sexual behavior. *Crane*. 534 U.S. 407; *Thorell*, 149 Wn.2d 724.

Belcher appears to add a new requirement to due process: Not only must the State demonstrate "serious difficulty controlling behavior," it

must demonstrate "*sustained* impairment of volitional control." Pet. at 9. Because human brains continue to develop until an individual's midtwenties, Belcher reasons, evidence of impaired volitional control before that time should not be considered. This logic would essentially prevent the State from acting to protect the public and incapacitate and treat dangerous sex offenders until some "sustained impairment" occurring after the brain's full maturation could be developed. Due process does not require this.

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